IL

NOTICES OF THE SEVERAL OPENINGS OF A CAIRN ON CUFFHILL;
OF VARIOUS ANTIQUITIES IN THE BARONY OF BEITH; AND OF A
CRANNOG IN THE LOCH OF KILBIRNIE, AYRSHIRE. By ROBERT
LOVE, Esq., F.8.A. Scor. (Prate XI.)

This highly interesting cairn, which when entire was of an oval or
elliptical form, has been hitherto on three occasions partially opened, first
in 1813, next in the winter of 1863-4, and lastly in the spring of 1874,
And as a knowledge of many of the appearances which were manifested
on the first two occasions, especially the first, have been already lost, the
object of the following paper is chiefly to collect. and record as many of
the more material facts as are now recoverable, with a view to theu' pre-
servation,

Cuflill, or, as it is sometimes called, Cuff-Park, is in the barony of
Hazlehead, and forms the east end of an elevated hill range which trends
nearly west and east, and is not much more than a mile in length. It is
precipitous at both ends, and essentially so also on'the north side, while
its decline towards the south is much less steep. The most elevated part
of it is at the west end, which is locally called *“The Lowes (or Lochs)
Hill,”* but in the Ordnance Map, * Lochlands Hill,” and which is about

1 Adjoining this hill to the north is a natural loch, which is called the ¢* Lowes
Loch,” and the land surrounding it on its south side is called ‘*Lowes Lands,
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679 feet-above sea-level ; while at the east end the highest part of Cuff;
hill is aboub 13 feet less, or about 665 feet. From the summit of every
part of the ridge of this short range, especially from a point near the centre
called “the Cufflaw”—which was af one time a cireular mound, or rath
as it would be called in Ireland-—of some elevation, the prospect is the
grandest and most extensive imaginable, in all directions. ° ’ ;

The Cufthill' at its east end forms a precipitous promontory. oveérlooks
ing the valley of the Cadgerford Burn moré immediately, and also the
‘upper valley of the Dusk Water, a little further off to-the east. And it
is on the south-east corner of this.hill, and downwards on the slope some
160 feet, on a small plane or knoll declining rapidly to the east and
morth, and situated outwith the base of the hill only a few yards, that
this cairn has been reared by means of stones which are in great abundance
all around. The surface of this plane is a brown or reddish indurated
«earth, which is apparently very impervious to moisture, The eairn ranges
nearly south-east and north-west ; and in length is from 150 to 155 feet,
measuring from the outer base at either end. In breadth, according to
the like measurement, it is variable, being, at the distance of 25 feet from
the south end, 47} feet; at 57 feet, 57 feet; at 77 feet (the position of
the two cists exposed in and since 1813), 58 feet 6 inches; at 102 feeb

“possibly from Llo or Llow, in the British signifying a hill. This loch is near the
upper end of the valley of the Cadgerford Burn (Ord. Map)—one which separates
one of the three portions of which the barony of Beithis made up——Threepwood
from Beith, the mid part, and from the lands of Cuff, lying to the south-west and
west, Cuff protrudes northwards far between Beith, lymO' to the south-west, and
Threepwood, to the east.

-1.This name -Cuff in its orthography has assumed several forms, the more COmMMon
of which are Cufe, Cuiff, and Coiff, or Koif. There is a Cuff in Carrick, and another
near Douglas Castle, Lanarkshire. ‘Some have said that Cuff or Coiff is the Celtic coibhs
ot cotvi, importing a Druid or Arch-Druid. Jameson’s Diet. Sup., Coivi; Palgrdve’s
Rise and Progress, i.° 155; Macpherson’s Crit. Dissertations; Rust’s Druidism Ex;
humed, and others). Coifi was at least the name of the heathen high priest of Edwin,
king of Northumbria, if it did not also import the office of high priest, as it is con?
tended it did. It was he who, on the conversion of Edwin and -his people to Chris-
tianity "in~ A.D. 627, profaned the heathen temple at:- Godmurdingham,> nean
Wighton, in Yorkshire, at which he ministered (Bede, b. ii. ch. 13; Palgrave’s Anglo-
Saxons, ch. iil. 65; Fergussons Rude Stone Mon., p. 28). But Lingard thinks it
pot probable that he was 3 British Druid, or that 2 Druid should be the “pnmmi
pontificum ” of a 'Saxon king, so late as 627 (A. 8. Church, i. 29y - - ¢
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{the position of the limestone cist after mentioned), 613 feet; at 128
feet, 58" feet; and at 150 or 155 feet (the north extremity) it is some
Iittle less than 58 feet, owing to its being here, as well as at the southern
extremity, somewhat rounded off. The average of these five bréadths is
56} feet. It was the north half of this cairn, when entire, that was
greatest in height, the depth of stones there being from 11 to 12 feet;
but from the centre of the cairn, southwards there was a regular
decline in height. The height at the south end it is not now possible
to state with any exactness; only the mass of stones there was of
such a depth as to overly and completely cover several of the smaller
cists,

~ In was in 1813 that the first material infringement of this cairn took
place. Before that—from being overgrown with a stinted herbage, and
the surface so swarded as to conceal the artificial nature of the stone
deposit—it was looked upon simply as a rocky knoll. However, in that
year a public road in.the neighbourhood being in course of formation, it
was entered upon at its south end for a supply of stones; and from
this point the work of removal proceeded northwards along the centre of
the cairn, and almost from the one to tho other side of it, until about a
half of the whole in length was carted off. It must be stated that,
besides this, there had been most probably an anterior removal of a
small part at its morth-west corner; yet, so far as known, without any
cists or other thing extraneous having been disclosed.

The only printed account of the result of this demolition in 1813 is to
be found: in Robertson’s ¢ Top. Description of Cuninghame,” published
in 1820 (p. 293; Beith Parish), seven years after the date of the excavation.
From whom the author derived the information which he transferred to
his Book is not known; but regarding this account, it must be said
that, locally and generally, it is reckoned as exaggerated in many parti-
culars. As this account, however, is to be found in a piinted book
accessible to most, it has not been thought proper here to refer to it at
length. Neither, for the like reason, will those remarks be given which
are contained in the New Statistical Account drawn up by the late
Mc J. Dobie of Beith, in 1839 (Beith Parish). This last, however, as
it will be observed, although subsequent in date to the first opening, is
anterior to the two last, to which consequently it could not allude; and
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regarding if, it may be said that it endorses almost none -of Robertson’s
statements. Very fortunately, another account of this opening exists in
MS., in the form of a letter which has never been published. It is that of
the late Mr Andrew Aitken, farmer and lime-burner at Overtown, the
farm which immediately adjoins Cuffhill on the south-west. Aitken was
constantly on the spot in 1813; and, as he says, paid frequent visits to
the cairn in course of its demolition; and Mr Dobie being aware of his
personal knowledge of the facts, when preparing his account of the Anti-
quities of Cuffhill, seems to have submitted his paper to him for observa-
tions. Aitken replied by a letter, dated 26th February 1836, and as it is
invaluable from being the staterent of an intelligent and trustworthy
man, who saw with his eyes all that he speaks to, its full import, as far
ag it bears on the matter, is here submitted, in order that, among other
reasons, it may be contrasted with the view of the facts as they have
been enunciated by Robertson, '

After speaking generally of Mr Dobic’s “elaborate and voluminous
essay,” he says in this letter,—*“ I will, therefore, according to your
desire, state briefly what I saw, and what were my feelings on witnessing
the opening of the cairn. The cairn in its original state was of an oblong
shape, and from 35 to 40 yards in length, running from south-east to
north-west. It was perhaps 30 feet broad, and 10 to 12 feet deep at the
north end, narrowing and lowering gradually towards the southern
extremity. It was here the road-makers commenced their operations, the
south end being the most accessible. After removing a few carts of
stones, they encountered two small cells about two feet long, and pro-
portionately wide and deep, formed of broad stones set on edge, and
covered with stones of a similar description. Proceeding onwards, they
met with other two cells like the former, but a size larger, &ec., &ec.;
always increasing in size to 6 or 7 feet long, and composed of stones which
eight or ten men could not carry. The smaller cells were broken down
and carted away with the other loose stones. A few of the uncovered
large ones remain ; for the labourers were stopped ere they got their.
large hammers brought to the spot.”

Aitken then, in continuation, says,— After repeated visits to the spot,
and seeing nobody offering to -prevent its total removal, I hastily
addressed a note to Dr Patrick in nearly the following words, and dis-
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patched “it " to . Trearne with my father:—*¢ Oveérton, 1813. Sir,—I am
thls moment returned both vexed and angry from visiting ,the, cairn, It
has turned out, as I expected, a very extensive cemetery of the sort, con-
taining two regular rows of tombs or cells, of lesser or larger size, to
perhaps 40 in number. These carious and .interesting relics of antiquity
the mercenary arid ‘boorish labourers are ¢ breaking and undoing” with the
most unfeeling apathy.’” Then, havmg placed various reasons before Dy
Patrick to induce him to put an immediate stop to a further demolition, he
concludes—¢The doctor put a stop to the proceedings as requested, in
the course of half an hour, and you (z.e., Mr Dobie) are aware ihat he
has subsequently done towards ornamenting and protecting the spot. It
was visited,” as Aitken adds, “at that time Dby thousands of people ; -and
individuals fond of antiguarian’ research aré yet attracted to the place:
It was said. that Zuman skeletons, &c., were found in the cells, but I
never saw anything ‘except fine black earthy mould. A single bead, and
asmall bit of copper like a defaced coin, were the only extraneous things
found.: Had any person among the vast crowds who visited the interest-
ing spot found anything of consequence, it could hardly have been con-
cealed,—I am, &ec., Andw, Aitken.”

In regard, then, to this (Aitken’s) narrative of the facts, it has never been
1mpu0ned in ought, except in as far as he says n6 human bones were dis-
covered, He neversaw any, he says, which may be true. Nevertheless, Mx
Dobie inserts -this'discovery as a fact into his account ; and one recently
‘dead was. heard to say that he saw some bones—a small quantity it is
andefstood ; and another, who is yet alive, of the age of 69 or 70 (Hugh
Stevenson, grandson of the late Hugh Stevenson, in Townend of Threep-
wood, dn immediately adjoining farm), 'says that, when a youth of seven
g;r eight years, he was takén.to the spot by his grandmother, and saw 3
few bones.in a’ handkerchief, which was lying by the side of a dyke,
which were represented as human. = In which of the cists, however, or if
in more‘than one of them, these bones were found, are facts which have
riot Teached this:timé. Neither is the cist, or place, known in which were
found the bead and small bit of copper, objects whlch certainly, were dis:
govered., It is,-however; Mr Dobie, -and ‘not Aitken, who would have |
this bead to be of “’burnt; ¢clay,” upon . information, no doubt, whlch he
had otherw1se obtained, and believed satisfactory. . s
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Dr Patrick having stopped the farther demolition of the cairn, hadthe
site’ enclosed with a sfone wall, and planted ; and, from 1813 to. the
present time, two, and only two, of the larger cists which remained intact
have lain exposed to view.. They stand opposite each other in the.swidth
of the cairn, and no doubt form one of the pairs referred to. both by:
Robertson and Aitken. Between the inner; which is also the wider, end.
of "each is a space or passage, near the centre of the cairn, that is from
6 to 7 feet in breadth—a breadth; however, which might not uniformly.
eéxist between the cists lying to the south. That cist (one of the pair)
which is on the west side of this passage was constructed of. stone slabs,
there:being three on each side, all of which are placed either on their
edges or ends. Each end of the cist is closed with a single slab,.and the
lids or capstones are four in number, none of them wery large. This
cist, inside, is in length 7 feet 2 inches; in width, inner end, 3 feet,
outer end, that towards the west, 1 foot 3 inches; and in depth-from
the under side of the capstones it is from 3 feet to 3 feet 4 inches’
according as the rubbish, which is on the floor inside, in depth may be.
The other cist—that to the east—is formed also of stone slabs, there
being two on each side, also set on. their edges ; that on the north side is
large, being 7 feet in length, and has been projected: westwards into the’
passage mentioned some 2 feet. ‘The capstones are two; that over the
inner end of the cist is large, being in' length 6 feet, and in breadth 4
feet 5 inches, and of an average thickness of about 10 inches, " A single-
stone, set also on edge, closed each end of this cist, which measures on the.
inside—Ilength, 8 feet ; breadth of inner end, 3 feet 1 inch ; and depth,
frora the under side of the capstones, 2 feet 7 inches, All the stones of .
which these two cists were constructed, except possibly one or two
which are whinstones, are a brown porphryrite, the same as the rock’
of Cuffhill, and might be- obtained on this hill or in the neighbour-
hood. Both cists have been raised on the surface of the ground, and-
lie, as near as may be, at a right angle with the cairn, or north-east
and south-west. As to the heads, or wider ends of euch of these
cists, they are in the centre of the cairn; and therefore any idéa of
orientation in their construction, or in the deposition of the- ‘body, would:
seem excluded. :

“ Then, it was in the winter of 1863~4 (December?). that the next aggres-
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sion on this cairn took place, the object in view being thé formation. of
some fox-earths. The workmen commenced operations on its east side,
and had not proceeded far towards the centre till they reached a covered
way or passage, to be immediately mentioned. Working along the top,
of the covering slabs of this passage, they reached a large cist, constructed
altogether of limestone slabs. The capstones of it, which were probably
three in number, were found within the cist in fragments, as well as many
of the incumbent stones.of the cairn; the capstones having apparently
been pressed down by the great weight of the stones composing the
cairn, These being uplifted, human bones were discovered on the floor
of the cist, some being in a good state of preservation; while, as fo
the most part, they were so decayed and fragile as, on exposure, to
crumble into dust. 'When first seen, they were, say the workmen, lying
“a thegither” in the upper and inner part of the cist, not quite close to
the enclosing head stone there, but near it; and on this account, and by
the jawbone discovered being distant frora this end about 18 inches, and
in connection with some of the arm bones, an opinion, formed at the time
by the workmen, was, that the body had been deposited, if not in a
doubled up posture, with face to the south, and thus on its right side, a6
least in a sitting one. But as these bones, in as far as they were preserved,
have been presented to the Society, and fully described in Mr Cochran
Patrick’s paper (Proceedings, vol. ix. p. 231), any particular reference to
them now is uncalled for. There is, however, one fact not noticed in that
gentleman’s statement, which is this, that among the other bones recovered
was one supposed by Drs Speirs and Boyd to be that of a dog. In what
part of the cist it was found, the workmen, however, cannot say. It is
said, besides, that a small quantity of dark unctuous matter (adipocere it
might be) was found at the outer and lower end of the cist, but as a fact
this find has not been verified. It is certain, at the same time, that on
the floor of the covered passage, 6 feet or thereby from the east end of
the cist, about two shovelfuls of black calcined matter or earth were found.
Some, who saw it, say it contained fragments of bone; they call it ¢ burnt
bones,” while others are at least certain that one of its constituents was
charred wood. TUnfortunately, no part of this, or of the other matter has
been preserved. Nothing else was discovered; there was no urn or other
vessel or utensil—no pottery, no tool of stone or metal, not even a chip or
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fragment of any of these; and in particular no sculpturing i3 observable
on-any of the slabs.

This large cist, more elegantly constructed than either of the other two
which lie to the south, at the distance of 20 or 21 feet, was formed
of limestone slabs; there being one at each side, both large—one at the
head or inner end, while possibly three acted as capstones. Such
slabs were procurable at Overton, a mile or so to the south-west, but not
nearer, also at Broadstone, which is a mile further off On the inside,
this cist measures in length 7 feet 6 inches, in breadth at the head 3 feet
8 inches, and at the other end about 2 feet, and in depth it is 3 feet 10
inches. The slab inclosing the inner end, and which stands upright, and
some 9 inches within the side slabs—and thus had the effect of prevent-
ing them closing—rises some 10 or 12 inehes higher than the latter, and
of itself is 4 feet 10 inches in length by 3 feet 8 in breadth, the width
of the cist. "Whether, however, the cist was closed at the outer or
east end—that end which  connects with the covered passage—is some-
what uncertain. At the opening, a whinstone slab was found rather
within the cist than at its lower end; and as it lay on end somewhat
diagonally across the cist, and is not of limestone, an irapression not im-
probably arises, that. when ¢n situ it acted as u lid; and being rather
short, or from some other cause, that it was forced down into the cist
by the great weight of the stones. The covered passage is distinctly an
opening either in continuation of, or in connection with, the cist, and by
means of which ingress and egress might be obtained, It is nearly on
the same alignment as the cist ; its dimensions inside are nearly those of
the cist where the two connect, being 2 feet in width at the inner end,
decreasing outwards to about 1 foot 6 inches; and its height is about 2
fect. The sides of it are formed of a dry stone rubble, and therefore it is
not like the cists in its formation, all of which were constructed of stones
set on their edges or ends. It was covered with slabs considerable in,
size, and of poryphyrite or whinstone, procurable on the adjoining
grounds, These slabs were five or six in number. During the excava-
tion of 1874 this passage was traced outwards from the cist for about
12 feet ; and if it did not originally altogether extend to the base of the
cairn, it must have done so to a point only a few feet inwith the base,
Here the cairn has not yet been satisfactorily explored.
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. " This, then, is dbout the. sum of all that was discovéred at the opening
in 1863—4; and because after that dperation a considérable part of the
cairn: rémained intact, the proprietor, Mr Ralston Patrick 6f Trearne and
Hazlehead, “on being applied to; handsomely agreed to make .a.further
~exploration, in the hope that, as a double Tow of cists existed in the
south half, it would be continued throughout the north half;, of the
cairn. "In the @ourse of this operation, undertaken in the spring of 1874,
and in which ten or twelve men were engaged over two days, the most
part of the cairn remaining undisturbed was turned ‘over. The result,
however, was nil, éxcept that the explorers were in consequence fully
certiorated that within this northern half there was no cist, at least none
~of the larger description, but the limestone one, with its peculiar adjunct
of the passage, or whatever it was, And with this other exception, that
a dry stone wall of curious import was discovered faced only on one,
and that the north, side, standing in a vertical position, about 8% feet
south. of the limestone cist, and having the stones of the cairn as-a
“backing™ or support to it on its south side. It had been drawn right
across the .cairn from side to side or at least nearly so, and extended up-
wards from the surface of the ground until it reached within a foot or so of
the summit. It does not, however, maintain a straight alignment through-
out; there is'a break of a few feet west of the centre of the cairn’; the west
part, although like the other extended right across, was advanced about 3L
feet more to the north than the east parts. The flatter description of stones
available had been adopted ; these have been placed upon their flat sides, and
closely. set together, Being 8% feet south of the limestone cist, it thus lies
hetween the:latter and the .other two described above, from which ‘it is.
distant 12 or 13 feet. This wall is undoubtedly andient; inasmuch as in
- 1813 it was not approached, and -as the workmen in 1863-4 say they did.
not form, or even see if. The ground to the north, and outside of it,
at'the time of its constriction must necessarily, for a greater or lesser
space, have been void of the cairn, or any other object having.an obstruct-.
ing effect. The stones lying in front of it, supposing sach to have existed at
its construction, would probably be thrown up and behind it, to the south;
and a presumption, .in the circumstances, is held by some as arising, that’
the limestone. cist and.its enveloping cairn; as'they e north of this wall,-
are the work of some age-lafér than the cists and cairn which are on
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its south side: There is another.supposition which ‘is feasible, if only
the limestoneé cist (apparently the principal sepulchral structiure of this
cairn) may be assigned an age anferior to the other two to the south;
namely, that this walling was formed when means of access to the lime:
stone cist became desirable or nécessary, for it might be, visiting, or
mmaking a second, or additional interments within it. And the fact of
there being evidence, from the bones recovered,.that there was at least
two bodies interred within the cist, seems to afford support to such
an idea. = Besides, regarding.this covered passage, there may be this not
very presumptuous conjecture, that it was no part of the original design,
but formed at sone later period to admit to the cist, for, it might be,
to avoid the great trouble of providing ingress by a repeated displace-
ment of that portion of the cairn which surrounds it. It falls to be
stated, however, that there was no appearance manifested at the opening
of a similar, or any other, wall siorth of the limestone cist; a fact which
probably shows that it was the stones of the cairn lying south of this wall
only, which required to be prevented from spreading outwards, and causing
an obstacle to some operation, whatever that was, which was in progress
at the time' of construction of the wall. .

- This, then, taken in connection with the accounts of Robertson, Doble,
and Aitken, may be considered as authentic a narrrative of the material facts
as it is now possible to obtain. - Those, however, who look info Robért-
son’s stabement will find that, on many points, it is not reconcilable with
that of Aitken. We presume the latter must be regarded as the more
trustworthy. Robertson would induce a belief that, besides this large
cairn, thore were several others, which were separate, and' much less in
size, “heaps of stones” indeed, as he calls them, under which, in square
cells, were found human bones. Some of these cells, as he says, were.
éntirely removed. There is no evidence, however, of the existence of any:
such, but much that is opposed to the idea. The small square cells of 2
feet were really within the large cairn at its southern extremity, as
Aitken’s statement shows. Then, proceeding to a description of this
large cairn, Robertson is found advancing, that the “cells for depositing,
the dead within it” were “ each about 6 or 7 feet in length,” which is
just about the length of the two largest discovered, yet extant, and visible
since 1813. * But that all the others were as large ds these, Aitken’s state--
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-ment is quite contradictory of the fact. The cists, he says unhesitatingly,
increased in size as they were discovered in the course of the removal of
the cairn northwards ; and those two yet extant are the northmost of the
whole ever discovered éxcepting the limestone one. Robertson also sayé
that these large cells were planted “in fwo regular rows fronting each
other, with a passage between.” In this Aitken concurs; and of the fact

" there can be no doubt. Then, in as far as Robertson would have the
bones of a man found lying * extended ” in each of the cists, there are no
grounds for believing that such was the fact. Aitken’s report is utterly
subversive. 'When, however, Robertson says that the cells were “so
nearly laid together” as that the interval between the side of one cist and
that of the adjoining was little, the statement is materially confirmed by
what Aitken says, in his letter of 1813, to Dr Patrick—that it (the cairn)
has turned out a very extensive cemetery, there being cells lesser and

greater “to perhaps 40 in number.” This number seems incredibly great ;
and it is possible that what Aitken meant to convey was, that the cells

- disclosed, and those which he presumed would be in the remaining half
of the cairn, might number perhaps 40. Then, as to the single bead
being of ¢ burnt clay,” which is the statement in the New Statistical
Account, Aitken seems not to traverse it in his letter of February
1836. .

These facts are no doubt suggestive of many questions, as, among -
others, of (1.) Whether this cairn may not have been in construc-
tion during a long period of time? (2.) Whether the half, north of the
two cists, or the other, within which is the limestone cist, is the more
ancient? (3.) Whether there is not material evidence that, at one
period during its formation, interment was by simple inhumation, and at
another after cremation of the body? .And (4) Whether, looking at
the relative position of the various kinds of cists—at the less height of
the cairn at its south end, and other circumstances—there is not, to say
the least, some evidence, that the larger ones of 7 feet and upwards in
length, near the centre, are antecedent in age to the smaller class, which,
according- to Aitken, by a regular decreasing graduation southwards
resulted in those which were only 2 feet in length ?

- It may only be proper, in any consideration that may be given to the
origin or age of this cairn, to have regard to the fact, that this hillrange
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of Cuff almost without any doubt was the Moor of Beith, and that
this noor Dr 'W. F. Skene would identify as the “ Wood of Beit,” in
which, at the close of the day, a battle, supposed to have taken place in
the latter half of the sixth century, occurred, if only the Welsh bard,
Taliessin, may be credited in what he says in a historical poem relating
to the DBritish Leader, Gwallawg-ap-Lleenawg (Four Ancient Books of
Wales, vol. i. pref. pp. 248, 9; also p. 337—and vol. ii. pp. 149-401.)
This hill-range is much the most elevated land of the parish of Beith
(Beit?) ; a considerable part of it is even now moorish and heathy; and
over its whole extent, as well as over the country by which it is environed,
wood seems to have abounded, if any reliance may be given to the ancient
place-names, and yet in use. There is Fullwoodhead (possibly Fowl-wood or
Fowler-wood), the name of about the west half of the whole, a four pound
land of old extent—the east or Cufthill portion is part of a barony called
Harzlehead; and then, stretching to the north and. east, there is another
wooded place, Threepwood (town or hamlet in, or by, a wood?, a hill
of which is called Barcood; this affix cood being apparently the British
coet, or coed = wood.}!

1 ¢ Bytth, Batth, and Threppewood,” taking Pont’s orthography to be correct, wha
quoted from the Register of Kilwinning—of which he had a perusal about the begin-
ning of the seventeenth century, but which is now amissing—are the names by which
the three portions comprising the barony of Beith are called, when towards the end
of the twelth century it was conferred on Kilwinning by the wife of Sir Richard de
Moreville, Beith, including possibly Brown-Moor, is the central of these three por-
tions, having Batth on its southern boundary and Threppewood on its eastern, with
Cuff lying in part between. Batth is the name of a burn as well as land, which has
its origin at Gillsland, east of Beith, and flowing westwards through that village, falls,
after a course of about two miles, into the Loch of Kilbirnie. This burn probably
formed the boundary between Beith proper, and Batth which lay on its south side; -
while another burn, called, on the Ordnance Map, by a modern name, the Cadgerford
Burn, was the boundary between Threepwood to the east and north, and Beith and
Cuff to the south-west,
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CRANNOG IN THE LOCH OF KILBIRNIE

: ’lh1s loch of Kilbirnie is sﬁ:uated in the parish of that name, and in, ag
1t is understood, the ancient barony of Glengarnock, which skirts it nearly
throughout on its north-west margin, and which was long a possession of
a family of the riame of Cuningham, an early, if. not the earliest cades
of the Kilmayrs family, first’ ennobled as Lords Kilmaurs aud latterly as
Earls of Glencairn.. The earliest name discovered which was given to this
Ioch is “ Loc Tancu,” which is contained in a charter to the Monastery
of Palsley of the Barony of Peti or Little Auchengown, in the parish
of Lochwinnoch. This charter, which is dated between 1208 and 1214,
is to be found in the Register.of Paisley (p. 23). Locally this loch has
been known for a long time as “Loch Tankard” or ¢Thankard,”
although little in use, and a small farm at its north-west corner is
called the “Unthank,” or “Onthank,” a name which, as well as
Thankard, probably had its origin in “Tancu,” or, what is possible, the
latter may be a corrupted form of the former. At a considerably later
period, however, this loch is by Boece (Bellenden’s translation) and
Hollinshead called ‘“ Garnoth,” from, it may be, its being part of the
bareny of Glengarnock, or if not, then from the Garnock Water passing
near its west end. ’

. There was a little island in the upper end, and near the north-west
corner of this loch; and most who knew it when.entire, fifty or sixty
years ago, are agreed that it was essentially circular, although some little
" pointed towards the south. It was, they think, of the diameter of from
23 to 25 yards, a view that is confirmed by. the Ordnance Map, the -
survey for which was happily made before the island was encroached on
by the deposition of débris or slag from the adjoining ironstone furnaces
of the Glengarnock Company. It was distant from the north-west margin
of the loch ‘some 56 yards, and fiom the west margin three times that
distance, or about 168 yards. It was elevated, at least in modern times,
above the water of the loch in its ordinary state, from 2 to 4 feet ; and
on the surface was entirely overlaid with stones of the boulder soxt,
not large, and which might have been got on the margin of the lake.
Manifesting thus a stony appearance, the name of ¢“The Cairn” (an
aggregation of stones) was generally applied to it in the locality. Some
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say that beams or logs, and piles of wood were noticed during pro-
tracted droughts on or along the margin of the island, but if they were,
it notwithstanding never occurred to any one that the island was other
than natural. In the summer of 1868, however, its artificial nature
became quite evident. This was occasioned in consequence of the slag
from the furnaces having been for several years and in great bulk
deposited within the loch to the west of and behind this island, which
sunk down through the soft yielding mud deposit there, which is of the
great depth of 30 or 40 feet, a fact that was ascertained by borings near
the site of the furnaces. *This had the effect, while it overlay and bore
down that part of the island which is towards the west, of moving the
east portion of it forward and into the loch, and, at the same time, of
upheaving it so that it was elevated considerably above the water. In
consequence, this part spread hither and thither and split up; many
fissures were the result, both in the artificial deposits and in the under-
lying mud, which were of a depth that varied from 4 to 6 feet; and
it was by means of these that the various artificial strata became dis:
closed.

Tt has been said that the surface of the island throughout was overlaid
or paved with stones. The depth of these was not great, possibly not
more than from 1" to 2 feet, there not being in any part that became
visible more than two courses. "Wood ashes were discovered on the sur;
face—a portion being also found a little below, and some of the stones
at one part, in particular the fragments of a sandstone flag, bore distinct
evidence of the action of fire; and it was supposed that this flag might
have been the hearth of some structure reared on the surface. These
stones are to be held as the uppermost artificial stratum. The next in
descent was a layer of large coarse water-borne gravel mixed with: finer
sand, which was of the depth of from 18 inches to 2 feet, The third
layer was brushwood, boughs of trees, among which the hazel pre-
dominated;, ferns, &e.; &ec., but the whole was - so compressed as not to
manifest a greater dépth than about 6 inches. The fourth layer was
beams or logs of wood, some of which were nearly 2 feet in diameter,
although the greater number was less. These seemed laid down horizon-
tally, and so as to cross or intersect each other, similar to a raft of wood;
some. of them showed that they had been. mortised or checked info
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each other, or into vertical piles, and that the tenons when inserted had
been fastened by wooden pins, and in one or two instances by large iron
nails. The whole of this wood-work, however, when exposed, was in a
greatly: disturbed and loosened condition from the movement and up-
heaval of the structure; and in consequence what space in depth these
cross-heams occupied was not ascertainable, Then the fifth, and lowest
stratum, was the underlying mud, which was fine, pure, and free of
stones, and not at all like boulder clay. Besides, there was manifested as
having been planted on the surface, one if not more wooden structures,
houses or huts they might be, sraall in size, and one of which at least was
in the form of a parallelogram, having been constructed of small round
posts of wood used in forming the sides and ends. How it had been
roofed did not appear. There was seen also bits of bone, as those of
birds, as well as a few teeth, similar to those of the cow or ox. Trees,
for the most part of a low stature, were over all parts, as well as reeds
and other coarse grasses which sprang up between the stones on the
surface. :

Then as regards the margin of this island, it appeared to have been
palisaded ; at least this was the case on its north-east side—that which
only was visible. The piles used for this purpose were apparently of
oak, and not great in girth; they were driven down into the mud bank
as the foundation; and on these, as well as upon the beams, the cutting
of an edged tool, not a saw, was quite distinct. Within these vertically
plaéed piles, and resting on the surface, stones, it is said, were placed,
which was the case more certainly around the whole margin. It is also
said that stones were even placed outside of these piles, in a row, and on
the very margin; but it is only probable that oufwith this row there
had been an outer course of piles, by means of which the stones were
kept in position, but which, from weathering, had gone into complete
decay. » .

It is known that this island was approachable by means of a kind of
stone causeway which led from the north-west margin of the lake.
According to the report of those who saw it often, it was only of the
breadth of two or three feet, and was never visible above the water of the
loch, which on either side %s said to have been 6 or 7 feet in depth. It

-is not said that this causeway was protected or fortified in any way
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by piling. It was near the south end of this causeway, along the north-
east margin of the island, that in 1868 several canoes or boats, as many
it was believed as'four, in a less or more entire condition, were discovered.
Ouly one of these, however, when found was partly entire, and it even
wanted some two feet at the bow to render it complete. DBut as this canoe,
formed out of a single tree, and the bronze utensils which were found
irnbedded in mud within it, have been well described in Mr Cochran

~ Patrick’s paper, printed in the Society’s Proceedings (vol. ix. 385), none
of these need now be referred to, further than to say that the pot, the
repair, or clouting, of which was with ¢ron, is not by any means uncom-

mon in shape, and that the ewer is not unique, inasmuch as, besides the
example figured in Wilson’s ¢“Preh. Annals” {p. 556, 1851), there is
another very similar, also figured in the “ Memorials of the Maxwells of
Pollok.” The fragment of another canoce waa found by the tenant of.the
adjoining farm of Pudevanholm in removing some of the mud for cultiva-
tion. It also lay close by the island on its north-east side; was formed
of a single tree, that oak, and measured b or 6 feet in length by 2 feet
2 inches or so in breadth ; the wood in thickness not being more than
2% or 3 inches at the bottom, which was flatly formed, and some little
less at the sides. Moreover, it was peculiarly shallow, not being more
than 5 or 6 inches in depth below the gunwale, although possibly some
allowance must be made for decay. Of the other canoes no description
can be given, owing to their fragmentary condition.

It may be mentioned, that there was a breaking and destruction of boats
on this loch, in the course of disputes which arose between the lairds of
Glengarnock and Kilbirnie, with the view of preventing, as it would ap-
pear, the establishment of rights by the running of prescription. This
will be seen by referring to a case of 18th July 1626, reported in Morr.
Dict. p. 10,631, and by an Act of Parliament in 1641, ratifying a charter
dated 2d March 1626 (Thomson’s Acts, v. 521). It would seem as if the
laird of Glengarnock was owner of the loch, while the laird of Kilbirnie
(the name of a large adjoining barony lying to the west) possessed a right
of fishing in it, : i o ) '

Timothy Pont surveyed the Cuningham distriet of Ayrshire, within
which this loch is, about the beginning of the seventeenth century; and it is
curious to remark that in his map, which was published by Blaeu, this
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island does not-appear. .May it'not then have been invisible, and havé
only come into view after tepeated deepenings.of the stream called « The
Dubbs,” the outflow of the loch, which are known to have been made. by
parties’ who:had an interest to ircrease their land boundaries by lessemnsr
the extént of the loch?

" THat these” crannogs were cons’cructed and resorted to for safety to
life and property in times of danger would sesm apparent. But we havé
failed, to "discover that any strong place of defence, such as a British
fort, ‘or-Irish rath, ever existéd in the neighbourhood of thisloch. There
were ‘the castles' of Glengarnock” and of Kilbirnie, but both are a’con:
siderable distance off.-" The' kirk of Kilbirnie, however, is near;.and

Between it ‘and the loch was a barony Mill on the left- bank of the Gar-
‘nock, called the “ Nethermiln of Kilbirnie,” where was one of these
ancient - sepulchital tumuli (New Stat. Account, Ayrshire, ». Kilbirnie).
Arnid it is only presumable that, in this district in early times would a

considerable population be collected, which would require often to attend
to its safety. Crannog, says Joyce, is from crann (Erse), a tree, and
literally, denotes’a wooden house. They were “ gencrally placed,” ashe

adds, “on artificial islands in lakes. These were formed in a shallow
part-by driving stakes into the bottom, which were made to support cross-

beams ; and on these were heaped stall trees, brambles, clay, &c., till the
structure was raised over the surface of the water. - On this the family,
and in many cases several families, lived in wooden houses, sufficiently

protécted frorn enemies by the surrounding lake, while communication
‘with the land was cafried on by means of a small boat.” . '(““Irish Place
Names,” 2d ed. p. 288.) The author refers in this to the Irish erannogs;
but-the description ‘is equally applicable to the Scottish examples, and

$o this in Kilburnie Loch in particular. . (Vide also Dr Stuart’s elabo-

-rate and valua,‘ble paper in the Proceedings, vol. iv.; the late Dr.Joseph
Robertson’s article in Chambers’ Ency v, “ Crannoges ;” Archaeology,

in Chambers Ihformatlon, &e) . ; o i
ST . V - S )

Note —1. Inthe pa‘rish of Beith, one adjoining Kilbirnie on the south,

is Loch Bran or Brand, but. which now generally, passes by the name' of
“ Bovhall Loch " from 'being partly on lands 6f that name. As'part of

;the;]gm;ony of"Beith, it was given to the monastery of Kilwinning towards
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the end of the twelfth century, and is only a short distance south of the
Monk’s Grange, or Great Home Farm, and north from the Motehill of the
barony, called the ““Hill of Beith.” And either on or around the margin of
this lake, at various times, have piles or stakes of oak or elm been dis-
covered, which, although sometimes looked upon as having been used in
fishing the loch, may have been only vestiges of a crannog.

2. Another loch in this parish of Beith is the ¢ Lowes Loch ;”” and at its
west end is a plot of considerable extent, which is not above the water of
the loch many inches ; for the most part it is overgrown with willow and
birch, and is never submerged during the greatest floods, but rises and
falls with the water. Although probed with a rod, anything like the
substructure of a crannog has not, however, been found.

3. Dr Stuart’s conjecture (Proceedings, vol. vi. part 1) regarding the
existence of a crannog in Lochwinnoch Loch, 2 miles east of that of
Kilbirnie, may be well founded. The great number of canoes supposed to
have been seen by one party embedded in the mud north of the old castle
called “The Peil” was probably no other than the wooden portion—the
beams and cross-beams and interlacing work—of a crannog, which held
place on the islet before the erection of the stone and lime castle during,
as it is believed, the first half of the sixteenth eentury. Thisislet, which is
near the centre of the loch, opposite the old kirk of Lochwinnoch, and the
surface of which is freestone, could not be above the water prior to the
several deepenings of the loch at its outlet, which are supposed to have
oceurred, the first of them, by the Sempills, towards the end of the seven-
teenth, or in the beginning of the following century.

Axtiquities oN CUFFHILL, AND OTHERWISE IN THE BARONY oF BEITH.

Besides the Long Cairn, situated on the south-eastern slope of Cuffhill
(the facts manifested during the several openings of which have been
communicated to the Society, supra, p. 272), there are other antiquities
there, and within this barony, which are almost of equal interest. And
the object of the following remarks is simply to record, for their preserva-
tion, as many of the facts illustrative of them and their history as are
either now known, or likely to be recoverable.

1.. The Rocking-Stones (so called) of Cughill and of Threepwood.—That
of Cuffhill is a large boulder; geologists call it an ‘““erratic,” and an -

VOL. XI. PART I T
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eminent local one is of opinion, that it now occupies the very same position
as it did when dropt during one of "the glacial periods. He is also
of opinion it came henee from the north-north-east, its parent bed having
been at Barcood or Barcraigs, places within the barony, which lie not much
more than a mile off. The site of this remarkable stone is about 150 yards
to the west by north of the highest point of Cuffhill, and is not much less
elevated than that point, about 665 feet above sea-level. It is a basaltic .
greenstone, and in form an irregular oval or ellipsis, Iying on a smooth bed
of porphyrite, of which Cuffhill is all composed. It rests not on its whole
bottom, but on two points,—one mnear each -end, and at its centre is so
much concaved (naturally or artificially?) as that the hand and arm of any
person may be passed through below it. Its longest axis ranges about
north-north-east (magnetic) ; its greatest or thickest end is towards the
north, and it rocks ab a right angle to its length. In circumference it is
about 19 ft. 7 in., in breadth 5 ft. 5 in., and in height 4 ft. 4 in.; and
according to a caleulation made by the late Mr Robert Aitken of Beith,
land-surveyor, &e., a competent party, it contains 141 cubic feet, and
will weigh 11 tons 7 ewts.

The other rocking-stone on part of Threepwood is about a mile to

 the north-east of the last. Ttis on the summit of a rocky knoll within
an enclosure long called the “Thinkillgreen” or ¢ Finkillgreen,” for in
pronunciation the name assumes both forms. As regards material, it is
the same as that of Cuffhill. It is, however, less than this last by a
third; and instead of being oval, is rather of a flat and square form. It,
as the Cuffhill stone, may still be rocked.

[A third such stone is in this district, although not in the barony of
Beith, but in the moor of Moniabroe, in the parish of Lochwinnoch,
part of the * moor land of Glen,” and a possession of the Monastery of
Paisley (vide “Reg. de Passelet”). Its site is the east end of a rocky
ridge near the upper and west end of that moor; and close by it, on the
slope of an adjoining hill, out of the rake of the south-west winds, are
vestiges of, to appearance, several upland summer huts of the herdsmen.
Tt, t0o, is much less in bulk than the Cuffhill stone.] '

2. Cuf-Law.—This artificial law, hill, circular mound, or vallum,
having much the same appearance as the Irish raths, has been planted on

- the very summit of the ridge, and near the centre of this Cuffhill range.






